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I. SUMMARY

Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission (“the FTC” or "Commission") brings this ex parte action to

halt defendants' fraudulent telemarketing of magazine subscriptions using false promises of prizes and free

magazines, and their abusive collection practices in violation of  Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade

Commission Act (“FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and the Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 310,

and the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act ("FDCPA") 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., respectively.  Plaintiff

also seeks an asset freeze, the appointment of a receiver, expedited discovery, and other equitable relief,

including consumer redress.

Since 1988, defendants S.J.A. Society, Inc., Thomas P. Johnson, and Thomas Alan Blair, doing

business as Apex Marketing Group, Atlantic Service Corp., ASC, and Publishers Service ("SJA"), have

lured thousands of consumers to its fraudulent telemarketing scheme with false representations concerning

its magazine offerings.  Defendants' scheme begins with unsolicited telephone calls to consumers in which 

SJA’s telemarketers make a variety of false representations and claims to induce consumers to pay

defendants hundreds of dollars for supposedly free magazines.  First,  SJA’s  representatives falsely tell

consumers they have won prizes or cash, or that they will receive free airline tickets.  In fact, consumers do

not win prizes or cash, and do not receive free airline tickets.  Second, SJA telemarketers ask consumers to

pay what they characterize as "shipping and handling" charges for supposedly "bonus" "prepaid" magazine

subscriptions.  In fact, consumers do not pay just shipping and handling charges, but become obligated to

purchase magazine subscriptions from defendants at costs in excess of $250 and sometimes reaching nearly

$900.  Third, defendants falsely tell consumers they may cancel their magazine orders, when, in fact,

defendants do not allow cancellations.  Fourth, defendants claim that consumers are bound by multi-year

contracts and are, therefore, obligated to pay defendants.  Because of  the Virginia statute of frauds,

however, the "contracts” between SJA and consumers are unenforceable, and consumers have no

contractual obligation to pay SJA. 



     A Warrant in Debt is a standardized form provided by the Virginia General District Court and1

used by plaintiffs to initiate small claims actions.
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Defendants also routinely violate the FDCPA.  Consumers who do not pay defendants receive

harassing telephone calls, letters, and threats of litigation.  SJA relentlessly pursues payment by turning

over alleged debts to purported third-party collection agencies.  In fact, these debt collectors are

defendants’ employees.  As part of their collection effort, defendants file Warrants in Debt  in the General1

District Court for Virginia Beach, regardless of where the consumers reside, falsely claiming that

consumers have failed to meet contractual obligations.  Defendants also mail consumers invalid Warrant in

Debt forms that have not been issued by the Clerk of the Virginia Beach General District Court.  This is a

criminal violation of Virginia law.  Va Code Ann. 18.2-213.

Because of the egregious nature of defendants' deceptive tactics, the Commission has commenced

this action to halt defendants' illegal practices and remedy injuries caused by defendants' law violations. 

The Commission seeks an ex parte temporary restraining order ("TRO"): (1) enjoining the alleged unlawful

practices; (2) appointing a temporary receiver; (3) freezing defendants' assets; (4) permitting expedited

discovery; and (5) providing related equitable relief.  Only an order including the requested relief will

prevent the destruction of documents, preserve assets for consumer redress, and prevent further injury to

consumers by immediately halting defendants' deceptive practices.  Finally, the Commission seeks an order

to show cause why a permanent receiver should not be appointed and why a preliminary injunction should

not issue.

II. THE PARTIES

A. The Federal Trade Commission

Plaintiff is an independent agency of the United States government created by the FTC Act,

15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq.  It is charged, inter alia, with enforcement of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.
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Thompson Medical Company, 104 F.T.C. at 816.  See also Kraft, 970 F.2d at 322.  Moreover, any

representations concerning the price of a product or service are presumptively material.  Removatron

International Corp., 111 F.T.C. 206, 309 (1988), aff'd, 884 F.2d 1489 (1st Cir. 1989).  Even without these

presumptions, however, defendants' representations are clearly material because they go to the basic terms

of the transaction and unquestionably influence consumer purchasing decisions.  It is reasonable for

consumers to interpret defendants’ claims to mean exactly what they purport to mean.  Thompson Medical

at 788.  Yet, defendants' representations are misleading because they are false.  Therefore, they are

deceptive in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.

1. Defendants misrepresent that consumers have won a prize or something of
value.

Using fast-paced sales pitches and high-pressure tactics, defendants make a variety of

misrepresentations to promote magazine sales.  Defendants initially tell consumers they have won or are

entitled to receive prizes, cash, free airline tickets, or coupons.  Six of the 14 declarants whose declarations

have been submitted as exhibits to the FTC’s motion for a TRO state that defendants promised the

declarants a prize during the sales pitch.  {Exs. 9, ¶ 2; 3, ¶ 2; 13, ¶ 2; 5, ¶ 2; 20, ¶ 2; 11, ¶ 2.}  Janis Ford,

a former employee of the defendants, confirmed that prizes are an essential element of defendants’ standard

sales pitch. {Ex. 1, ¶ 12.}  However, defendants do not provide consumers with prizes, cash, free airline

tickets, or coupons.  None of the declarants ever received a prize, cash, free airline tickets, or coupons.

Defendants’ promise of prizes, cash, etc. is false and is a material inducement to purchase

defendants’ goods and services.  Offering prizes has long been a technique to induce consumers to purchase

goods and services.  The prize offer, along with defendants’ subsequent offer of "bonus" or "prepaid"

magazines, are critical to the success of defendants' overall scheme, which is designed to induce consumers

to pay money to defendants.  Because the prize offer is express, it is presumptively material; because the

offer is false, it is deceptive in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. 





     See also Zinn Attachments 2, 3, and 4.5
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Mona Zinn, for example, calculated just how much defendants charged for their free magazine

subscriptions.  Ms. Zinn agreed to receive only "Rolling Stone."  Defendants then sent her a confirmation

letter indicating she was to receive 26 issues of "Rolling Stone" (and also 12 issues of "Musician" and 10

issues of "American Health," neither of which she had ordered).  The letter also informed her that the cost

of the three magazine subscriptions was payable in seven monthly installments of $39.31 each, resulting in

a total cost of $275.17.  However, according to Ms. Zinn, the cost of undiscounted subscriptions to the

magazines that are generally available is only $60.88.  {Ex. 21, ¶ ¶ 3,7,7.}   Based on the foregoing, it is5

clear that consumers are not receiving free magazines and paying only "shipping and handling" charges as

defendants claim, but, rather, are paying much more than the full cost of the magazine subscriptions.

Defendants’ claim that consumers pay only shipping and handling charges is express, and,

therefore, presumptively material.  Furthermore, the claim is material because price claims are likely to

influence a consumer's decision to accept an offer of goods or services.  In light of defendants’ numerous

claims that consumers are being sent free magazines, it is reasonable for consumers to interpret defendants’

representations that they need only pay what appear to be "nominal" shipping and handling charges as

meaning just that.  Since the express representations discussed above are false because consumers actually

pay far more than mere shipping and handling expenses, they are inherently likely to mislead consumers, 

and are deceptive under Section 5 of the FTC Act.

3. Defendants misrepresent that consumers can cancel their subscriptions.

Defendants often misrepresent the company’s cancellation policy.  Some declarants state that

during the initial sales call, telemarketers told them they could cancel at any time, { see e.g., Exs. 4, ¶ 4; 8,

¶ 5; 14, ¶ 3; 20, ¶ 3; 21, ¶ 3; see also 1, ¶ 8}, they could cancel at some point within three days, { see e.g.,

Ex. 8, ¶ 6}, or, in at least one case, they could cancel within three months of receiving their order





     According to declarant Heather Ross, who listened to a purported tape recording of herself9

agreeing to order magazines, the voice on the tape was not hers.  When she brought this to  defendants’
attention, they simply ignored her and said, "We have you on tape and you are going to pay."  {Ex. 20,
¶ 7.}  Other declarants who heard their purported tapes report that the tapes appeared to have been altered. 
{See e.g., Exs. 16, ¶ 9; 12, ¶¶ 15.}

     The statute reads, in pertinent part:10

When written evidence required to maintain action.-- Unless a
promise, contract, agreement, representation, assurance, or ratification, or

(continued...)
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cancellation immediately after receiving the Agreement, but their cancellation was rejected by the

defendants. {See e.g., Ex.6, ¶ ¶ 6,7.}  Defendants offer a number of excuses for refusing consumers’

cancellation requests including that SJA had prepaid the magazines, { see e.g., Exs. 8, ¶ 13, Attachment 4;

4, ¶ 10}, the three days to cancel had expired, { see e.g., Ex. 6, ¶ 7}, or that the company had tape

recordings of them agreeing to take the magazines. { See e.g., Exs. 4, ¶ 10; 5, ¶ 10; 16, ¶ 9; 11, ¶ 7; 12,

¶ 14}.9

Defendants' express claims regarding consumers’ right to cancel are presumptively material.  Even

without this presumption, however, representations that purchasers may cancel the transaction are material

because they purport to eliminate the risk inherent in the transaction, and, thus, are likely to influence

reasonable consumers' purchasing decisions.  Based on these representations, a consumer acting reasonably

is entitled to believe that the transaction is completely "risk free."  In fact, the transaction is anything but

risk free.  Therefore, the representations are deceptive and violate Section 5 of the FTC Act.

4. Defendants falsely represent that an enforceable contract exists between
themselves and consumers.

Defendants routinely claim to have enforceable contracts with consumers, and use this fact as the

basis for taking legal action against consumers if they do not pay defendants.  Under Virginia law, no

action on a contract that cannot be performed in one year may be maintained unless the contract is signed

by the party to be charged, or his agent.   Nevertheless, defendants routinely fail to obtain consumers’10



     (...continued)10

some memorandum or note thereof, is in writing and signed by the party to
be charged or his agent, no action shall be brought in any of the following
cases:
8.  Upon an agreement that is not performed within a year  .  .  .  .

Section 11-2 Va. Code Ann. 

     In support of its demands for payment, SJA often tells consumers that the company has a tape11

recording of the consumer agreeing to the transaction and that the consumers are, therefore, obligated to
pay for the entire subscription package.  Although the company does have a "verification" process in which
consumers frequently are recontacted after their initial contact with the company supposedly to confirm
that consumers agreed to the order, it is apparent from consumer complaints that SJA's  verification
process is not designed to ensure that consumers truly understand the terms and agree to the purchase, but
to provide the company with a pretext for claiming that the consumer entered into a contract.  In many
cases, the purpose of the "verification" call is disguised by the fact that the call begins with a SJA
"supervisor" asking the consumer about the performance of the first representative with whom the
consumer spoke {See e.g, Exs. 1, ¶ 7; 4, ¶ 5; 11, ¶ 5.}  The verification call is generally much shorter than
the initial contact and the verifier may reiterate or confirm the earlier misrepresentations { See, e.g., Exs.
11, ¶ 5; 5, ¶ 6; 8, ¶ 7.}    In some cases, SJA requests permission to tape record a portion of the verification
call {see, e.g., Ex. 11, ¶ 5}, although many consumers report that SJA never informed them the call was
being taped. {See e.g., Exs. 12, ¶ 14; 16, ¶ 6 .}  In some cases where SJA has played the tape for
consumers, those consumers report that the recording was incomplete, omitted key portions of the
conversation, or failed to establish an agreement to purchase the subscriptions.  { See, e.g., Exs. 3, ¶ 15; 20,
¶ 7; 4, ¶ 10; 12, ¶  15; 16,¶ 9..}

     Defendants also threaten consumers with litigation by routinely mailing consumers Warrants in12

(continued...)
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signatures on their contracts.  Thirteen of our 14 declarants state that they neither signed, nor authorized

anyone else to sign on their behalf, any contract or agreement to purchase magazines from defendants. { See

Exs. 9, ¶ 4; 10, ¶ 8; 3, ¶ 10; 4, ¶ 5; 11, ¶ 11; 12, ¶ 5; 13, ¶¶ 3, 5; 14, ¶ 4; 16, ¶ 7; 5, ¶ 5; 20, ¶ 3; 21, ¶ 5.}

Although SJA does not obtain consumers’ signatures on their contracts, the company aggressively

insists that consumers owe money for magazines, that consumers entered into binding agreements, and that

consumers cannot cancel their subscriptions.   For example, declarant Gerald Potts received a letter from11

the collections department of Apex Marketing in which he was told Apex had a legally binding contract

with him.  {Ex. 6, ¶ 11.}  He received a subsequent letter from Strickland, Johnson, & Associates

("Strickland") threatening Mr. Potts with litigation.   {Id. at ¶ 12,  Attachment 9.} However, Mr. Potts12
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As described in Section III.A.1 and 2, defendants' representations that consumers receive prizes,

and that they pay only shipping and handling costs for free magazines are false.  Because these express

claims are used to induce consumers to make payments to defendants, they violate Section 310.3(a)(4) of

the Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(4).

As discussed above (in Section III.A.3), defendants also misrepresent their cancellation policy. 

Making any misrepresentation of "any material aspect of the nature or terms of the seller’s refund [or]

cancellation" policy violates the Telemarketing Sales Rule.  16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(iv).  Even though

defendants’ telemarketers tell consumers they may cancel, and even though SJA's contract states that

consumers have three days from receipt to cancel, defendants do not allow consumers to cancel. 

Defendants, therefore, violate Section 310.3(a)(2)(iv) of the Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 C.F.R.

§ 310.3(a)(2)(iv).

Because defendants’ actual cancellation policy is to allow no cancellations, the Telemarketing

Sales Rule requires that this information be given to consumers prior to a customer paying for goods or

services in a clear and conspicuous manner.  If the seller has a policy of not making refunds or

cancellations, it is a violation of Section 310.3(a)(1)(iii) of the Telemarketing Sales Rule to fail to disclose

this.  16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(iii).  Furthermore, "if the seller or telemarketer makes a representation about

a refund, [or] cancellation . . . policy, " it must also state "all material terms and conditions of such policy." 

16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(1)(iii).  As explained by one of defendants’ former employees, defendants’

telemarketers are to avoid saying anything to consumers about the company’s cancellation policy.  {Ex.

2,¶ 13.}  This policy itself violates the Telemarketing Sales Rule.  In addition, many of the telemarketers

make representations about the ability to cancel anyway. { See e.g., Exs. 4, ¶ 4; 8, ¶ 5; 14, ¶ 3; 20, ¶ 3; 21,

¶ 3; see also 1, ¶ 8.}  Having made a representation about cancellation, the Telemarketing Sales Rule

requires defendants to disclose all of the material terms and conditions concerning cancellation, which







      SJA’s collectors are located in the same office as SJA’s other employees, and Postal Service16

records show that Strickland, Johnson, & Associates shares SJA’s post office boxes.  The post office boxes
listed on Strickland, Johnson’s correspondence, P.O. Box 61549 and 62461, were applied for by Atlantic
Service Corp.  Defendant Johnson signed for P.O. Box 62461.  {Ex. 15, ¶ 4.}  There is no corporate listing
in Virginia for Strickland, Johnson.  Id. at ¶ 6.

16

To hold SJA liable for FDCPA violations, the Court must first find that SJA is a debt collector

under the FDCPA.  Although the FDCPA applies primarily to debt collectors, under certain circumstances

it also applies to creditors and others.  The definition of "debt collector," § 803(6) of the FDCPA, includes

"any creditor who, in the process of collecting his own debts, uses any name other than his own which

would indicate that a third person is collecting or attempting to collect such debts."  15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).

SJA attempts to collect its own debts using names such as Strickland, Johnson, & Associates; John

Mathison; and Tate & Kirlin Associates, { See e.g., Exs. 3, ¶ 14, Attachment 2; 8, ¶ 14, Attachment 5; 4,

¶ 10}.  It is, therefore, a debt collector for purposes of the FDCPA. 16

2. Defendants engage in harassing telephone calls in violation of Section
805(a)(1) of the FDCPA.

Section 805(a)(1) prohibits debt collectors from communicating with consumers before 8:00 a.m.

or after 9:00 p.m.  15 U.S.C. § 1692c(a)(1).  Nevertheless, SJA’s debt collectors routinely call consumers

during those times.   For example, declarant Tarji Pierre states she received a call from a Mr. Dole "with

APEX" at 9:45 p.m.  When that conversation ended, he called back ten minutes later, threatened Ms.

Pierre, and said APEX would file a judgment against her.  {Ex. 5, ¶¶ 16-17.}  After those calls, Ms. Pierre

received a number of telephone messages from a Mr. Colletti, who claimed to be working for an agency

collecting on behalf of APEX.  Ms. Pierre’s answering machine records the time of any call.  Some of the

calls were made after 9 p.m.  {Id. at ¶ 19.  See also Exs. 5, ¶¶ 16,17 (calls after 9 p.m.); 6, ¶ 10 (calls after

9 p.m.); 13, ¶ 11 (calls before 8 a.m.)}.  Defendants have, therefore, violated Section 805(a)(1) of the

FDCPA.  15 U.S.C. § 1692e(a)(1).



     Two individuals named Tom Davis are registered with the Virginia Bar, but neither of them is in17

the Virginia Beach-Norfolk area.  Both of these men have inactive status in Virginia.  Neither Martindale
Hubbell nor the Yellow Pages contain listings for attorney Tom Davis. 
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3. Defendants misrepresent that they are attorneys in violation of Section 807(3)
of the FDCPA.

Section 807(3) prohibits "the false representation or implication that any individual is an attorney

or that any communication is from an attorney."  15 U.S.C. 1692e(10).   However, defendants’ collectors

often claim to be so.  For example, declarant Tracie Cunningham was contacted by someone named Tom

Davis who said he was an attorney with Tate & Kirlin Associates, and that he represented SJA.  {Ex. 4,

¶ 10; see also Ex. 13, ¶ 12.}  However, the Virginia Bar Association has no listing for either the law firm

"Tate & Kirlin" or the correct Tom Davis.   {Ex. 15, ¶ 5.}  The false representation that a lawyer is17

involved in an attempt to collect a debt may unjustifiably frighten an unsophisticated consumer into paying

a debt that is not owed.  United States v. National Financial Services, Inc. , 98 F.3d 131, 139, (4th Cir.

1996), citing Masuda v. Thomas Richards & Company. , 759 F.Supp. 1456,1459-61 (C.D. Cal. 1991). 

Therefore, defendants representations that they are attorneys or employed by attorneys is a violation of

Section 807(3) of the FDCPA.  15 U.S.C. 1692e(3).

4. Defendants use false means to collect debts, and misrepresent that they are
independent debt collectors in violation of Sections 807(10) and 807(14) of the
FDCPA.

Section 807(10) of the FDCPA prohibits "the use of any false representation or deceptive means to

collect any debt," and 807(14) prohibits "the use of any business, company, or organization name other

than the true name of the debt collector’s business."  15 U.S.C. 1692e(10) and (14).  As described earlier,

defendants falsely claim they have valid, enforceable contracts, and, therefore, have a legal basis for

attempting to collect the alleged debt.  However, as demonstrated previously, defendants’ contracts are

unenforceable and defendants’ representations to the contrary are false.  In conjunction with this

misrepresentation, defendants send improperly-issued Warrants that list hearing dates and times, causing



     This recent Fourth Circuit case, involving the FTC and enforcement of the FDCPA, held, among18

other things, that debt collectors’ notices falsely threatening legal action against debtors constituted use of a
false representation or deceptive means to collect a debt in violation of § 807(10) of the FDCPA.  98 F.3d
at 138-39. 
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consumers to believe that legal action has actually been initiated against them.  Because defendants do not

have valid contracts, they have no basis for mailing such Warrants.  Defendants also falsely represent that

they are independent third-party debt collectors and use the names Strickland, Johnson, & Associates, and

Tate & Kirlin to do so.

All of these misrepresentations are intended to deceive consumers and coerce payment.  See

National Financial Services, Inc. , 98 F.3d 131 (prohibition against use of any false representation or

deceptive means to collect debt).   Because the representations are false, they violate Section 807 of the18

FDCPA.  15 U.S.C. 1692e.

5. Defendants file lawsuits against consumers in distant forums in violation of
Section 811 of the FDCPA.

It is a violation of section 811 of the FDCPA to bring any legal action on a debt against a

consumer anywhere other than "the judicial district . . . in which such consumer signed the contract sued

upon . . . or in which such consumer resides at the commencement of the action."  15 U.S.C. 1692i. 

Defendants practice has been to file Warrants in Debt in the Virginia Beach General District Court,

regardless of where the alleged debtors resided.  Declarant Helen Atkinson makes clear that SJA has filed

Warrants in Debt against out-of-state residents.  {Ex. 7, ¶ 8.}  Such a practice violates Section 811 of the

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692i.  See Scott v. Jones, 964 F.2d 314, 316 (4th Cir. 1992) (plaintiff, who resided

in Lynchburg, Virginia, brought action against debt collector who had filed legal action against plaintiff in

Richmond, Virginia.  The Fourth Circuit found that venue in Richmond was improper under the FDCPA. 

Venue is proper where plaintiff resides).
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individual's status as a corporate officer gives rise to a presumption of control of a small closely-held

corporation and liability for the corporation's wrongful acts.  "A heavy burden of exculpation rests on the

chief executive and primary shareholder of a closely held corporation whose stock-in-trade is overreaching

and deception."  Standard Educators, Inc. v. FTC,  475 F.2d 401, 403 (D.C. Cir.), cert. denied, 414 U.S.

828 (1973).

Blair, although not a corporate officer, has been a general manager and claims to have authored the

deceptive sales script used by SJA’s telemarketers.  {Ex. 1, ¶ 4.}  Furthermore, Johnson and Blair could

hardly claim ignorance of SJA’s wrongdoing, given that the misrepresentations clearly reflect a corporate

policy that is perpetuated by the individual defendants.  Because of their corporate responsibilities, Johnson

and Blair must know (and could hardly avoid knowing) about the vast numbers of consumers who seek

refunds.  Johnson and Blair also have been put on notice of SJA’s questionable practices through the

numerous complaint referrals by the Commonwealth Attorney’s Office, and the Better Business Bureau. 

Johnson was also put on notice of some of SJA’s deceptive practices  by District Court Clerk Helen

Atkinson who instructed him to cease mailing improperly-issued Warrants in Debt to both in-state and out-

of-state consumers.

The misrepresentations and deceptive acts at issue in this case constitute the core of SJA’s 

fraudulent operation.  Thus, it is highly likely that Johnson and Blair, who have the authority to control

SJA's business practices, also have the requisite degree of knowledge about the company's fraudulent

business practices to hold both personally liable for restitution.

3. The balance of public equities tips decidedly in the Commission’s favor.

Without the entry of the requested temporary and preliminary injunctive relief, defendants will

continue to defraud and injure the public through their use of misleading representations and deceptive debt

collection practices.  The public interest, therefore, necessitates the proposed relief.  By temporarily and

preliminarily enjoining defendants' illegal practices, this Court will effectuate Congress' intent in enacting
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Masuck, et al., Civil No. 2:930CV-182 (E.D. Va. March 3, 1993) ( ex parte TRO with asset freeze and

immediate access to premises); FTC v. William Taft, et al. , Civil No. 04:97-0532-12 (D. S.C. March 7,

1997) (ex parte TRO with asset freeze, immediate access to premises, expedited discovery, and

appointment of a receiver);  FTC v.  Garces, No. D91-2219-18 (D. S.C. July 31, 1991) ( ex parte TRO

with asset freeze, immediate access to premises and expedited discovery); FTC v. Global Patent Research

Services, Inc., No. 96-676-A (E.D. Va. June 26, 1996) ( ex parte TRO with asset freeze, immediate access

to premises and expedited discovery); FTC v.  Commercial Electrical Supply, Inc. , No. WMN 96-1892 (D.

Md. June 26, 1996) (ex parte TRO with asset freeze, appointment of receiver, immediate access to

premises and expedited discovery); FTC v.  Nwaigwe, No. HAR-96-2690 (D. Md. Aug. 28, 1996) ( ex

parte TRO with asset freeze, immediate access to mail drop [no business premises in existence] and

expedited discovery); FTC v. Independence Medical, Inc. , No 2-95-1581-18 (D. S.C. May 22, 1995) ( ex

parte TRO with asset freeze, appointment of receiver, immediate access to premises and expedited

discovery); FTC v. Silver Shots, Inc., No. S-95-2003 (D.Md. July 11, 1995) ( ex parte TRO with asset

freeze, appointment of receiver, and expedited discovery); see also SEC v. Manor Nursing Centers, Inc. ,

458 F.2d 1082, 1105-6 (2d Cir. 1972); SEC v. R.J. Allen & Assoc., Inc. , 386 F. Supp. 866, 881 (S.D. Fla.

1974); FSLIC v. Sahni, 868 F.2d 1096, 1097 (9th Cir. 1989). 

Defendants' assets should be frozen to preserve the possibility of restitution to the victims of their

deceptive scheme. The Fourth Circuit has held that such an order is proper, even if some assets might not

be the fruit of wrongdoing, upon "a showing of fraud, mismanagement, or other reason to believe that,

absent a freeze order, the assets would be depleted or would otherwise become unavailable."  Kemp v. 

Peterson, 940 F.2d 110, 113-14 (4th Cir. 1991).   As the Eleventh Circuit stated, "[a] request for equitable

relief invokes the district court's inherent equitable powers to order preliminary relief, including an asset

freeze, in order to assure the availability of permanent relief."  Levi Strauss & Company. v. Sunrise Int'l

Trading, Inc., 51 F.3d 982, 987 (11th Cir. 1995).  Indeed, the court may impose an asset freeze where the
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mere possibility of dissipating assets exists.  FSLIC v. Sahni, 868 F.2d at 1097 (holding that the District

Court's requirements of a showing of a likelihood of asset dissipation was too strict a standard);  FSLIC v.

Quinn, 711 F. Supp. 366, 379 (N.D. Ohio 1989).  Without an asset freeze, it is highly likely that

defendants would dissipate their ill-gotten gains and leave defrauded consumers in the lurch.

Any hardship on defendants caused by the appointment of a receiver, freezing of assets, and the

related equitable relief sought here is temporary and outweighed by the public equities.  The overriding

public interest is in preserving available assets to provide redress to deceived consumers and to prevent

further injury.

2. A receiver is necessary to protect the public and injured consumers.

The appointment of a receiver will prevent the defendants from using SJA as the vehicle for their

fraudulent practices.  As the former Fifth Circuit recognized: 

The district court's exercise of its equity power in this respect is
particularly necessary in instances in which the corporate defendant,
through its management, has defrauded members of the investing public;
in such cases, it is likely that, in the absence of the appointment of a
receiver to maintain the status quo, the corporate assets will be subject
to diversion and waste to the detriment of those who were induced to
invest in the corporate scheme and for whose benefit, in some measure,
the SEC injunctive action was brought.

SEC v. First Fin. Group of Tex. , 645 F.2d 429, 438 (5th Cir. May 1981); see also U.S. Oil & Gas, 748

F.2d at 1432 (holding that appointment of receiver and asset freeze was appropriate in case where

defendants deceptively telemarketed interests in oil and gas leases); R.J. Allen & Assocs., 386 F. Supp. at

878 ("`[A] receiver is permissible and appropriate where necessary to protect the public interest and where

it is obvious, as here, that those who have inflected [sic] serious detriment in the past must be ousted.'");

SEC v. Keller Corp., 323 F.2d 397, 403 (7th Cir. 1963) ("[I]t is hardly conceivable that the trial court

should have permitted those who were enjoined from fraudulent misconduct to continue in control of [the

corporate defendant's] affairs for the benefit of those shown to have been defrauded"); and In re
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McGaughey, 24 F.3d 904, 907 (7th Cir. 1994) ("The appointment of a receiver is an especially appropriate

remedy in cases involving fraud and the possible dissipation of assets since the primary consideration in

determining whether to appoint a receiver is the necessity to protect, conserve and administer the property

pending final disposition of a suit").

It is clear that the individual defendants must be ousted from control of the corporation to protect

consumers who have been injured by the defendants' activities.  They are directly responsible for the fraud

at issue.  The Commission has recommended that the Court appoint Frank J. Santoro, Esq., as the receiver

for the corporate defendant.  Mr. Santoro’s qualifications to serve as receiver are discussed in the pleading

entitled "Plaintiff’s Recommendation for Temporary Receiver," filed simultaneously with this

memorandum.

3. Expedited discovery is necessary to locate assets wrongfully obtained and to
prepare for a preliminary injunction hearing.

To locate assets wrongfully obtained from consumers and to prepare for a preliminary injunction

hearing in this matter, the Commission seeks leave of Court to engage in expedited discovery.  The

Commission specifically seeks permission to conduct depositions upon 48 hours' notice, and to issue

subpoenas for production of documents, and to serve interrogatories and admissions on three days' notice. 

District courts may depart from normal discovery procedures and fashion discovery by order to meet

discovery needs in particular cases.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 1, 26(b), 34(b).  Such a discovery order reflects the

Court's broad and flexible authority in equity to grant preliminary emergency relief in cases involving the

public interest.  See Porter v. Warner Holding Company. , 328 U.S. 395, 398, 90 L.Ed. 1332, 66 S.Ct.

1086 (1946); FSLIC v. Dixon, 835 F.2d 554, 562 (5th Cir. 1987).  

The proposed order also requires the defendants to produce certain financial records and

information on short notice, and requires financial institutions and other third parties served with the order

to disclose whether they are holding any of the defendants' assets.  These requirements, ancillary to the
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